Page 1 of 14

FILED 12-18-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2024AP002291-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN TYRONE RICKETTS, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

Under Wisconsin law, some persons charged with crimes of domestic abuse are eligible for an enhanced sentence when, among other factors, they have been "convicted on 2 or more separate occasions of a felony or a misdemeanor" for which a domestic abuse surcharge under Wis. Stat. § 973.055(1) applies.

Although the "separate occasions" language appears throughout the statutes, this Court has not relied on a uniform definition of that phrase; instead, the Court has reached diametrically opposed holdings depending on where in the code the language appears.

Is Mr. Ricketts correct that, for the domestic abuse repeater to apply, his qualifying convictions needed to stem from separate incidents?

The circuit court granted Mr. Rickett's motion to dismiss the domestic abuse repeater from the charging document. The State appealed and the court of appeals reversed.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

This case cleanly presents a straightforward issue of statutory construction meriting conclusive resolution by this Court. This is the first, and only, case to interpret the "separate occasions" language in Wis. Stat. § 939.621. The issue is therefore novel and, as it impacts a charging scheme invoked in hundreds

Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 4 of 14

if not thousands of criminal cases filed across the state of Wisconsin each year, review of this issue satisfies Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)2.

More fundamentally, this Court must also weigh in on this controversy to clarify the force of its recent decision in *State v. Rector*, 2023 WI 41, 407 Wis. 2d 321, 990 N.W.2d 213 and to analyze the continued viability of its dated decisions in *State v. Hopkins*, 168 Wis. 2d 802, 484 N.W.2d 549 (1992) and *State v. Wittrock*, 119 Wis. 2d 664, 350 N.W.2d 647 (1984). Resolution of this important issue merits review pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d)&(e).

Here, the court of appeals relied on this Court's decisions in Wittrock and Hopkins when it chose an interpretation of this statute which focuses not on the timing of prior convictions, as seemingly indicated by the plain text, but instead on the mere existence of prior convictions, period. However, those cases, as Mr. Ricketts argued in his brief, are of questionable validity. They predate this Court's landmark decision in State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 and fail to engage in the kind of rigorous textualism that the last 20 years of existing precedent has tried to rely on for guidance. Moreover, their logic is unambiguously contradicted by this Court's assessment of identical language in its Rector decision, where it rejected arguments directly parroting the language of *Hopkins* and Wittrock.

Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 5 of 14

While this apparent inconsistency in our law is excused, in the view of the court of appeals, by the fact that *Rector* was dealing with an identical phrase that happened to be located elsewhere in the statutes, the lack of consistency and clarity generated by this Court's decision in *Rector*—which comes just shy of outright overruling *Wittrock* and *Hopkins*—cannot be ignored. Accordingly, this Court should accept review and if it concludes that these cases stand in the way of Mr. Rickett's urged-for plain text reading, overrule those authorities, and hold that the commonsense plain language interpretation it favored in *Rector* should also prevail here.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts are undisputed and fairly recited in the decision of the court of appeals. Mr. Ricketts was charged in this case with two misdemeanors, both as acts of domestic abuse. (2:1-2). In addition, the State alleged that, because of Mr. Rickett's history, the enhanced penalty for repeated domestic abuse applied. (2:1-2). Application of that statute transforms these misdemeanors into felony offenses. Wis. Stat. § 939.621(2). As a basis for this enhancer, the State relied on Mr. Ricketts's convictions in a 2021 case, where Mr. Ricketts was convicted of two domestic abuse-related charges as part of the same court proceeding in relation to an ongoing and underlying course of conduct. (2:1-2).

Mr. Ricketts moved to dismiss the enhancers and the circuit court agreed that the State had

improperly applied those modifiers to Mr. Ricketts's case. Relying on this Court's decision in *Rector*, the circuit court concluded that the two underlying convictions did not satisfy the statutory text requiring "separate occasions" and therefore granted Mr. Ricketts's motion. (23:8); (App. 35).

The State appealed and the court of appeals reversed. It concluded that while the text of the statute was ambiguous, canons of construction favored the State's reading. State v. Ricketts, No. 2024AP2291-CR, ¶ 21.¹ (App. 12). Central to the court's analysis was this Court's prior decisions in Wittrock and Hopkins, which had analyzed identical language in Wis. Stat. § 939.62. Id. ¶ 30. (App. 16). The court of appeals determined that this Court had rejected analogous arguments presented by Mr. Ricketts in those two cases and instead held that "each conviction for a misdemeanor constitutes a separate occasion for purposes of" the general repeater statute." Id., ¶ 35. (App. 18).

Accordingly, the court held "that a person is a domestic abuse repeater if he or she was convicted of two or more qualifying domestic abuse offenses during the requisite statutory time period, regardless of whether those convictions arose out of the same incident, had the same offense date, or occurred during the same court appearance. Consistent with *Wittrock* and *Hopkins*, what matters is the quantity of the defendant's prior domestic abuse

¹ Recommended for publication.

Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 7 of 14

crimes, not the time of commission or the time of conviction." Id., ¶ 37. (App. 19). It further rejected the circuit court's reliance on Rector for two reasons: (1) although the language at issue was identical, it appeared in a different part of the statutes and (2) the Wisconsin legislature amended the sex offender registration statute to reject the reading identified by a majority of this Court. Id., ¶ 43. (App. 22).

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

I. A plain text analysis of the statute shows that two convictions from the same incident, resolved as part of the same court appearance, cannot satisfy the "separate occasions" test.

Here, the statutory text is plain. For a person to be a DV repeater, they must have been convicted on "2 or more separate occasions." Wis. Stat. § 939.621(1)(b). If the legislature wanted the person to merely have two convictions, period, it could have said so directly. Instead, the legislature imposed an additional requirement—that those convictions occur on "separate occasions." Thus, two convictions that occur as part of the same occasion fail this plain text requirement.

Moreover, this logic tracks the Court's interpretation of identical language in *Rector*. There, Rector challenged another statute related to

Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 8 of 14

sentencing: the sex offender registration requirements under Wis. Stat. § 301.45. Notably, that statute (since amended) used language identical to that under review here and required the person to have been "convicted" on "2 or more separate occasions" to qualify for lifetime registration. *Rector*, 2023 WI 41, ¶ 11.

The issue presented for the Court's review also mirrors this appeal, with both parties taking familiar positions:

The State averred "that a person meets the criteria of being convicted 'on 2 or more separate occasions' when that person has been convicted of two or more offenses." *Id*.

In contrast, Rector argued "that a person fails to meet the criteria of being convicted 'on 2 or more separate occasions' when that person is convicted based on charges filed in a single case, and the convictions occur during the same hearing." *Id.* "According to Rector, the State's interpretation of the statute reads out the phrase 'separate occasions' altogether." *Id.*

Notably, the Court then conducted the plain text analysis called-for in this case and agreed with Rector. In this Court's view, "a separate occasion is an incident or time at which an event occurred, which is set apart from another incident or time at which a different event occurred." Id., ¶ 12. Because "separate occasions" clearly modifies the statute's use of "conviction," then it logically follows that the sex offender registration requirements are activated "if

Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 9 of 14

the event of conviction occurred at two or more separate (set apart) times." Id. Thus, convictions stemming from the same court hearing cannot be counted together to constitute qualifying prior offenses: "Convictions that are filed in a single case and pronounced within the same hearing are not significantly 'set apart' or 'disunited,' and so are not 'separate occasions." Id., ¶ 17.

As the foregoing discussion shows, the *Rector* Court assessed identical language, albeit language located elsewhere in the statutes. Unlike the court of appeals, it did not find that language ambiguous. Instead, it clearly applied commonsense textualist principles and concluded that, for the requirement of "separate occasions" to be meaningful at all, then the convictions needed to be set apart. *Id*.

Rector's plain text analysis is persuasive and convincing evidence that, as the circuit court concluded in this case, the State's interpretation of the statute is simply incorrect.

Accordingly, this Court should accept review, apply those plain text principles and reverse so that similar words in the Wisconsin statutes can be accorded similar meanings.

Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 10 of 14

II. This Court should also accept review and reject the resort to canons of construction which obscure the reality compelled by plain text.

In the court of appeals, the State relied not on the plain text but on another source of authority: canons of construction. And the court of appeals agreed that resorting to those canons was appropriate and dispositive to the outcome of this appeal. *Ricketts*, No. 2024AP2291-CR, ¶ 26. (App. 14).

But wait a minute: If the plain text of the statute is meant to be taken as "gospel," then why do we need academically derived "canons" to guide us toward some other meaning altogether? After all these are extrinsic sources of meaning; they are "not the law." James v. Heinrich, 2021 WI 58, ¶ 63, 397 Wis. 2d 517, 960 N.W.2d 350 (Dallet, J., dissenting). And, those tools—like any other—can in fact be wielded by judicial decisionmakers to sometimes obscure or distort the authentic meaning of the statute, id., ¶ 79, which should instead be derived from a plain text analysis. Moreover, when judges lose sight of their obligations to plain text meanings, all manner of constitutionally-cognizable "mischief" may result. Friends of Frame Park v. City of Waukesha, 2022 WI 57, ¶ 96, 403 Wis. 2d 1, 976 N.W.2d 263 (R.G. Bradley, J., concurring).

Accordingly, this case is also a great opportunity to air these disputes over the proper roles of canons and clarify—as the court of appeals should have done Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 11 of 14

in this case—that canons have no place when statutory language is clear. This Court should therefore accept review, give effect to that plain text, and reverse.

III. To the extent this Court's decisions in Wittrock and Hopkins are relevant, those decisions should be overturned.

Finally, review is also warranted to address the elephant in the room: the obvious lack of fit between this Court's decisions in *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* on one hand and *Rector* on the other. The two sources of authority address identical language; inexplicably, they reach different results.

Notably, there may have been valid reasons to overturn those cases in *Rector*. They are poorly reasoned and rely largely nontextual on considerations; as such, it is difficult to imagine their holdings being reached in a post-Kalal world. Wittrock, for example, derives much of its interpretative force not from plain text but from a 1950 law review article. Wittrock, 19 Wis. 2d 672. And, in Hopkins, this Court explicitly invoked public policy considerations in determining legislative meaning, thereby arguably constitutionally-mandated transgressing its boundaries. Hopkins, 168 Wis. 2d at 810-812.

This Court came close to overruling those cases in *Rector* but instead invoked canons of construction to avoid that result. *Rector*, 2023 WI 41, ¶ 25 n.7. Yet, as the dissent pointed out, this does not erase the obvious inconsistencies now existing in our law because of the

Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 12 of 14

decision in $Rector.\ Id.$, ¶ 87 (R.G. Bradley, J., dissenting). And, as this case shows, it was exactly this inconsistency that forced the lower court to pick and choose between two conflicting sources of authority.

Accordingly, this Court should accept review and, to the extent that it feels bound by its decisions in *Wittrock* and *Hopkins*, it must confront that inconsistency head-on, overrule these dated decisions, and give force to the plain text analysis it already conducted in *Rector*.

Case 2024AP002291 Petition for Review Filed 12-18-2025 Page 13 of 14

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Mr. Ricketts asks this Court to accept review and reverse the court of appeals.