**FILED**  
**01-09-2026**  
**CLERK OF WISCONSIN**  
**SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
IN SUPREME COURT

---

No. 2024AP2291-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN TYRONE RICKETTS, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

---

**RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

JOSHUA L. KAUL  
Attorney General of Wisconsin

WINN S. COLLINS  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice  
Post Office Box 7857  
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857  
(608) 264-6203  
(608) 294-2907 (Fax)  
winn.collins@wisdoj.gov

**

## ISSUE PRESENTED

This appeal presents a single narrow issue: Does Brian Tyrone Ricketts, Jr., qualify for the domestic abuse repeater penalty enhancement in Wis. Stat. § 939.621?

## ARGUMENT

**This Court should deny the petition because no special and important reason is present to warrant review.**

This Court should deny the petition for review. Ricketts identifies three criteria in support of granting review. (Ricketts' Pet. 3–4 (citing Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2., (d), and (e)).) But none of the identified criteria support review. First, the court of appeals' decision is not in conflict with controlling opinions so Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d) is not a basis for review. Second, no supreme court opinion is ripe for reexamination so Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(e) is not grounds for review. Third, a decision by this Court is unnecessary to develop, clarify, or harmonize the law so Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2. is not a sufficient reason for review. There is no special and important reason present to warrant review.

**A. The court of appeals' decision is not in conflict with controlling opinions.**

Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r) and (1r)(d) states that this Court's "review is a matter of judicial discretion, not of right, and will be granted only when special and important reasons are presented," such as when "[t]he court of appeals' decision is in conflict with controlling opinions of the United States Supreme Court or the supreme court or other court of appeals' decisions."

Here, there is no conflict between the court of appeals' decision and any controlling opinions. The petition correctly states: "This is the first, and only, case to interpret the 'separate occasions' language in Wis. Stat. § 939.621." (Ricketts' Pet. 3.) But then, one paragraph later, the petition cites to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d), as justification for this Court's review. (Ricketts' Pet. 4.) Reliance on this criterion is in error because there is no conflict with controlling law.

The court of appeals' decision comports with this Court's opinions in *State v. Hopkins*, 168 Wis. 2d 802, 484 N.W.2d 549 (1992), and *State v. Wittrock*, 119 Wis. 2d 664, 350 N.W.2d 647 (1984). Neither *Hopkins* nor *Wittrock* directly control. See *State v. Rector*, 2023 WI 41, ¶ 25 n.7, 407 Wis. 2d 321, 990 N.W.2d 213 ("this case is not about whether to overrule *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* but whether we should extend those cases' interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 939.62 to a different statute"). But there certainly is no conflict between the court of appeals' decision and *Hopkins* and *Wittrock*; to the contrary, they are in harmony with one another, *State v. Ricketts*, No. 2024AP2291-CR, 2025 WL 3526886, ¶¶ 21–37 (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 9, 2025) (recommended for publication) (interpreting "separate occasions" in the domestic abuse repeater statute consistently with prior judicial interpretations of the phrase in the habitual criminality statute) (Pet-App. 3–27).

The court of appeals' decision is not in conflict with this Court's opinion in *Rector*, either. *Rector* does not deal with the statute at issue here, and the opinion makes clear that the phrase "separate occasions" may have different meaning depending on the context in which it is used. *Rector*, 407 Wis. 2d 321, ¶¶ 25–39. For example, the phrase might mean one thing among closely related statutes and another in an unrelated statute. See *id.* Thus, the opinion here—which holds that "separate occasions" means the same thing in two

closely related statutes, *Ricketts*, 2025 WL 3526886, ¶¶ 21–37—hardly conflicts with *Rector*. It is instead consistent with *Rector*.

The criterion in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d) is not a justification for review by this Court because there is no conflict with controlling law.

**B. No supreme court opinion is ripe for reexamination.**

Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r) and (1r)(e) states that this Court’s “review is a matter of judicial discretion, not of right, and will be granted only when special and important reasons are presented,” such as when “[t]he court of appeals’ decision is in accord with opinions of the supreme court or the court of appeals but due to the passage of time or changing circumstances, such opinions are ripe for reexamination.”

This criterion is not met because there are no opinions ripe for reexamination. As *Ricketts* explains in his petition, “[t]his is the first, and only, case to interpret the ‘separate occasions’ language in Wis. Stat. § 939.621.” So there is no earlier opinion to reexamine. *Ricketts* mistakenly believes that review here is a forum to reexamine this Court’s opinions in *Hopkins*, *Wittrock*, and *Rector*. But it is not, as this Court explained in *Rector*.

This Court explained that *Rector* was “not about whether to overrule *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* but whether we should extend those cases’ interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 939.62 to a different statute.” 407 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 25 n.7. Specifically, it was about whether to extend the *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* interpretation to the sex offender registration statute in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(b)1. This Court decided that it should not be extended because the statute under review in Wis. Stat. ch. 301 was not closely related to the penalty enhancement statute in Wis. Stat. ch. 939 and each must be analyzed in its unique context within its respective statutory

scheme. *Id.*, ¶ 25. In making its decision in *Rector* in 2023, this Court acknowledged that “the operation of the criminal repeater statute appears to be settled.” *Id.*

There has not been a sufficient passage of time since this Court decided *Rector* two and a half years ago to warrant review. *Rector*’s framework remains: When analyzing the language in a different statute it is “not about whether to overrule *Wittrock* and *Hopkins*.” 407 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 25 n.7. Rather, it’s about whether a court “should extend those cases’ interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 939.62 to a different statute.” *Id.* Here, the court of appeals’ decision concerned interpreting the domestic abuse repeater statute in Wis. Stat. § 939.621. It’s neither a forum to review the interpretation of the habitual criminality statute in Wis. Stat. § 939.62, nor a vehicle to overrule *Wittrock* and *Hopkins*.

The one notable change in circumstance since *Rector* does not support Ricketts’ petition for review. The Legislature amended the sex offender registration statute in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(b)1. after this Court’s decision in *Rector*. 2023 Wis. Act 254, § 1 (amending Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(b)1.) Ricketts asks this Court to “weigh in on this controversy to clarify the force of its recent decision in *State v. Rector*, 2023 WI 41, 407 Wis. 2d 321, 990 N.W.2d 213.” (Ricketts’ Pet. 4.) But this is an appeal that concerns interpreting the domestic abuse repeater in Wis. Stat. § 939.621. It’s the wrong forum to reexamine the interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(b)1. following the Legislature’s amendment to that unrelated statute. A future appeal that requires interpreting the amended sex offender registration statute in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(b)1. is a better vehicle to interpret that statute and the Legislature’s amendment to it.

The criterion in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(e) is not a justification for review. There are no opinions ripe for reexamination. *Hopkins*, *Wittrock*, and *Rector* didn’t interpret the domestic abuse repeater statute in Wis. Stat. § 939.621.

The framework laid out in *Rector* two and a half years ago explains that “this case is not about whether to overrule *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* but whether we should extend those cases’ interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 939.62 to a different statute.” 407 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 25 n.7. There has not been a sufficient passage of time to revisit this framework. Ricketts errs when arguing review of the domestic abuse repeater statute is a forum to overturn *Wittrock’s* and *Hopkins’* interpretation of the habitual criminality statute because that statute is not under review. And the only notable change in circumstance weighs against relying upon an interpretation to the unrelated sex offender registration statute that has since been heavily amended by the Legislature in response to *Rector*.

**C. A decision by this Court is unnecessary to develop, clarify, or harmonize the law.**

Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r) and (1r)(c)2. states that this Court’s “review is a matter of judicial discretion, not of right, and will be granted only when special and important reasons are presented,” such as when a “decision by the supreme court will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, and . . . [t]he question presented is a novel one, the resolution of which will have statewide impact.”

Although Ricketts casts his argument on the need for clarity, his opening argument reveals that he asks for little more than error correction. Ricketts’ opening argument section articulates his disagreement with the court of appeals’ decision. (Ricketts’ Pet. 7–9.) Insofar as Ricketts seeks review because he disagrees with the court of appeals’ decision, then he is asking this Court to correct a perceived error of law. But this Court is “not, primarily, an error-correcting tribunal, and [it] normally hear[s] only those cases that present something more than just an error of law.” *State ex rel. Dep’t of Nat. Res.*

*v. Wisconsin Ct. of Appeals, Dist. IV*, 2018 WI 25, ¶ 43, 380 Wis. 2d 354, 909 N.W.2d 114 (footnote omitted).

Ricketts attempts to bolster his argument by suggesting that this Court should accept review to air “disputes over the proper roles of canons” and clarify the use of canons of statutory interpretation. (Ricketts’ Pet. 10.) But such a statement is at odds with a position Ricketts takes two pages later in his petition to “give force to the plain text analysis it already conducted in *Rector*.” (Ricketts’ Pet. 12.) The problem for Ricketts is that *Rector* identified that the prior-construction canon aligns with *Kalal* because a prior interpretation of a closely-related statute may help in the plain-meaning analysis. *Rector*, 407 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 25 (citing *State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 45–46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. *Rector* did not reject this canon; instead, this Court concluded that the sex offender registration statute in Wis. Stat. ch. 301 was not closely related to a penalty enhancement statute in Wis. Stat. ch. 939, such that the canon did not apply. *Id.*; See *James v. Heinrich*, 2021 WI 58, ¶¶ 19–20, 397 Wis. 2d 517, 960 N.W.2d 350 (related-statutes canon aligns with *Kalal*).

Part of the criterion in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2. is about harmonization in the law. But Ricketts asks this Court for disharmony. This appeal does not develop or clarify the use of canons. Granting review to reject reliance on canons as Ricketts advocates would put this case in disharmony with *Rector*. And granting review to take a position contrary to that in *Hopkins* and *Wittrock* would result in disharmony in the law. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2. supports granting review to harmonize the law, not to create disharmony.

The criterion in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2. is not a justification for review. *Rector* recently clarified and developed the law, both as to the use of canons in statutory interpretation and the framework to apply when considering whether to extend the *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* interpretation of

the habitual criminality statute to a different statute. The court of appeals' decision comports with the framework in *Rector* and it is in harmony with *Hopkins* and *Wittrock*. There are not special and important reasons for further review by this Court.

\* \* \* \* \*

This Court has many opportunities to develop statutory interpretation law. But this appeal is not one of them. It pertains to a specific statutory phrase that this Court already recently examined in *Rector*, albeit in a different unrelated statute. The appeal centers upon whether to extend the *Wittrock* and *Hopkins* interpretation of the habitual criminality statute to the nearby and closely related domestic abuse repeater statute. It involves a very specific and unique set of statutory history and case law that the court of appeals' decision has resolved. Given the specific and narrow issue presented by this appeal, it is not a good candidate for law development.

## CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition because no special and important reason is present to warrant review.